FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 5/10/2019 4:24 PM

97191-9

No. 35874-7 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

IN THE MATTER OF: THE PETITION OF KITTITAS COUNTY FOR A DECLARATORY ORDER WSLCB NO. 01-2017

WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR AND CANNABIS BOARD,

Appellant,

VS.

KITTITAS COUNTY,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT KITTITAS COUNTY'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Neil A. Caulkins WSBA #31759 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Kittitas County Prosecutor's Office 205 W. 5th, RM 213 Ellensburg, WA 98926 (509) 962-7520

Identity of Petitioner

COMES NOW the Respondent, Kittitas County, by and through its attorney of record, Neil A. Caulkins, and submits its Petition for Review in the above-captioned action.

Citation to Court of Appeals Decision

Kittitas County is challenging the decision of Division III of the Court of Appeals in this matter in which it determined that the Growth Management Act (GMA) does not require the Washington State Liquor and Cannabis Board (LCB) to comply with local development regulations when reviewing/issuing applications for cannabis licenses. The decision was filed on April 11, 2019 and is attached hereto in the Appendix as Exhibit "A." (Hereinafter referred to as "Decision.")

Issues Presented for Review

This case asks whether RCW 36.70A.103, which states that "State agencies shall comply with …local development regulations" and WAC 365-196-530, which requires state agencies to consider local regulation when engaged in "permit function," requires the LCB to comply with local development regulation when issuing marijuana permits? This case asks whether the LCB's practice of ignoring local zoning when making marijuana permit decisions, thereby creating code enforcement problems for local government by issuing licenses that violate local zoning

regulations, is cognizable as being in compliance with RCW 36.70A.103's directive that "State agencies shall comply with ...local development regulations"?

Statement of the Case

RCW 36.70A.103 provides in its entirety as follows:

State agencies shall comply with the local comprehensive plans and development regulations and amendments thereto adopted pursuant to this chapter except as otherwise provided in RCW 71.09.250 (1) through (3), 71.09.342, and 72.09.333.

The provisions of chapter 12, Laws of 2001 2nd sp. sess. do not affect the state's authority to site any other essential public facility under RCW <u>36.70A.200</u> in conformance with local comprehensive plans and development regulations adopted pursuant to chapter <u>36.70A</u> RCW.

WAC 365-196-530 provides in its entirety as follows:

- (1) RCW 36.70A.103 requires that state agencies comply with the local comprehensive plans and development regulations, and subsequent amendments, adopted pursuant to the act. An exception to this requirement exists for the state's authority to site and operate a special commitment center and a secure community transition facility to house persons conditionally released to a less restrictive alternative on McNeil Island under RCW 36.70A.200.
- (2) The department construes RCW 36.70A.103 to require each state agency to meet local siting and building requirements when it occupies the position of an applicant proposing development, except where specific legislation explicitly dictates otherwise. This means that development of state facilities is subject to local approval procedures and substantive provisions, including zoning, density, setbacks, bulk and height restrictions.

- (3) Under RCW <u>36.70A.210</u>(4), state agencies must follow adopted county-wide planning policies. Consistent with other statutory mandates, state programs should be administered in a manner which does not interfere with implementation of the county framework for interjurisdictional consistency, or the exercise by any local government of its responsibilities and authorities under the act
- (4) Overall, the broad sweep of policy contained in the act implies a requirement that all programs at the state level accommodate the outcomes of the growth management process wherever possible. The exercise of statutory powers, whether in permit functions, grant funding, property acquisition or otherwise, routinely involves such agencies in discretionary decision making. The discretion they exercise should take into account legislatively mandated local growth management programs. State agencies that approve plans of special purpose districts that are required to be consistent with local comprehensive plans should provide guidance or technical assistance to those entities to explain the need to coordinate their planning with the local government comprehensive plans within which they provide service.
- (5) After local adoption of comprehensive plans and development regulations under the act, state agencies should review their existing programs in light of the local plans and regulations. Within relevant legal constraints, this review should lead to redirecting the state's actions in the interests of consistency with the growth management effort.

Kittitas County sought a declaratory determination from the LCB, pursuant to Ch. 34.05 RCW, as to whether these GMA provisions required the LCB to only issue marijuana licenses in conformance with local zoning regulations. Decision at 3. The LCB decided it did not. Id. The County appealed to the Superior court which reversed the LCB's

administrative decision. Id. The LCB then appealed to the Court of Appeals which reversed the Superior Court. Id at 10.

Argument

The Court of Appeals Decision is in Conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in *Woods v. Kittitas County* and its progeny.

In *Woods v. Kittitas County*, the Supreme Court stated that "the GMA is not to be liberally construed. The court's role is to interpret the statute as enacted by the legislature...; we will not rewrite the GMA." 162 Wn2d 597, 614, 174 P.3d 25 (2007)¹ By deciding that the LCB does not need to comply with local development regulations when issuing marijuana licenses, it both liberally construed and rewrote the GMA.

State agencies are required to comply with local zoning.

RCW 36.70A.103 states in pertinent part that "State agencies shall comply with the local comprehensive plans and development regulations and amendments thereto adopted pursuant to this chapter . . ." The clear statutory language is the mandatory "shall comply." RCW 36.70A.103 obliges state agencies, such as the LCB, to comply with local "development regulations."

¹ see also Feil v. EWGMHB, 172 Wn2d. 367, 259 P.3d 227 (2011); Quadrant Corp. v. Hearings Board, 154 Wn2d 224, 110 P.3d 1132 (2005); Spokane County v. EWGMHB, 173 Wn.App. 310, 293 P.3d 1248 (2013); Irondale Cmty. Action Neighbors v. WWGMHB, 163 Wn.App. 513, 262 P.3d 81 (2011).

By holding that the state only needs to comply with local development regulations when it is in the position of project applicant (with certain enumerated exceptions), the Court of Appeals has liberally construed the GMA. RCW 36.70A.103 says that the state "shall comply" with local development regulations with certain specific exceptions. The Court of Appeals holding reads this statute as saying the state, with certain specific exceptions, only needs to comply with local development regulations when it is a project applicant. This is a liberal construction of the GMA that is contrary to the controlling Supreme Court precedent on GMA interpretation. This is a liberal construction that is radically different than what the statute actually says. This is a liberal construction that drastically expands the exemptions to the statute beyond what the legislature provided.

By holding that the state only needs to comply with local development regulations when it is a project applicant, the Court of Appeals has rewritten the GMA. The Court of Appeals' holding rewrites RCW 36.70A.103 to say that, because the exemptions all seem to be instances where the state is the project applicant, this statute only applies to the state when it is a project applicant, with certain enumerated exceptions. This is simply not what the statute says and constitutes a rewriting of the statute in contravention of the Supreme Court precedent.

This rewrite vastly expands the exemption regarding state compliance beyond that which was specified by the legislature. The opinion of the Court of Appeals means that the only time this statute applies to the state is when the state is a project applicant, which is utterly incorrect.

WAC 365-196-530 explains more of what state agency compliance with RCW 36.70A.103 looks like. Subsection (2) explains that the state must comply with local development regulations when it is a development applicant. This subsection does not say that is the only time the state must comply. Actually, the rule continues by listing several other examples of state compliance. Subsection (3) stresses that state programs should be administered in a manner that does not interfere with local government GMA responsibilities. Subsection (4) speaks in terms of a "requirement" that state government action accommodate the GMA regulation of local government. It goes on to state that state permit issuance should consider legislatively mandated local GMA regulation. This is a vastly different meaning from the claim that the County is trying to force the LCB to enforce these regulations. Honoring local zoning regulations when notice is provided during the comment process is not at all the same, and is certainly not onerous. Please notice that the only place

² Please note that, while subsection (2) does say that the state must comply with local development regulations when it is a project applicant, it does not say it <u>only</u> needs to comply in that instance. Subsection (3), (4), and (5) would be rendered nullities otherwise.

in this section of the rule where discretion is mentioned is here, and that discretion refers to state permit issuance – whether to issue the permit or not. That discretion does not refer to consideration of local regulations.

The consideration of local regulation is not discretionary, but is rather referred to as "a requirement." WAC 365-196-530 describes state compliance as a "requirement" and the goal is state action being consistent with the GMA effort.

Finally, subsection (5) directs state agencies to review their programs in light of changes to local regulation so as to be acting consistently therewith. In short, WAC 365-196-530 requires state agencies to comply with local regulation when the agency is a project applicant; states that state programs should be managed so as not to be a cross-purpose with local government GMA responsibilities; that the issuance of state permits requires consideration of local development regulation; and that the state should revise its programs to maintain consistency with local regulation as that local regulation changes.

The Court of Appeals held that the LCB is only required to comply with development regulations when it is a project applicant. This is inconsistent with the meaning of the statute and contrary to the wording of the WAC. The WAC states that these activities, permit function being amongst them, involve the state in discretionary decision making. A

permit applicant is never involved in discretionary decision making, but a permit granting agency always is. It is contrary to the plain meaning of the WAC to state that the reference to "permit function" is merely a reference to the state acting as a project applicant, and not the state acting as a permitting authority, when a permit applicant is never involved in the discretionary decision making contemplated by the statute and the permitting authority always is. The Court of Appeals' decision largely ignores subsections (3), (4), and (5) from the WAC.

RCW 36.70A.103 simply does not say what the Court of Appeals has held it says. The statute is not limited to the state as project applicant with specific exemptions. The statute commands ("shall comply") state compliance except for enumerated exemptions not applicable here. In all other instances, the state is to comply. To hold otherwise, as the Court of Appeals has, constitutes liberally construing the statute and an out-and-out rewrite of it which is in conflict with the precedent of the Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals Decision is in Conflict with the Supreme Court's Holding in Southwick, Inc. v. Washington.

On September 13, 2018, the Washington Supreme Court issued its decision in *Southwick, Inc. v Washington*, 191 Wn.2d 689, 426 P.3d 693 (2018). The point of the case is that an agency may not proffer a legal

interpretation that conflicts with a statutory mandate nor may it promulgate a rule that amends or changes a legislative enactment.

In this case we have the statutory mandate, the legislative enactment of RCW 36.70A.103, which says in pertinent part that "State agencies shall comply with the local...development regulations." Here we have a state agency, the LCB, arguing, and the Court of Appeals holding, that its interpretation of the law does not require compliance with local development regulations. In so holding, the Court of Appeals has misread the exemptions allowed by the legislature. To achieve that result, the Court of Appeals ignored the provisions (3), (4), and (5) from WAC 365-196-530. The agency rule or interpretation cannot avoid a requirement placed by the legislature.

To support its holding that conflicts with the Supreme Court precedent in *Southwick*, the Court of Appeals relied upon a misunderstanding of a more recent legislative enactment. Decision at 8-9. The Legislature has created a forfeiture provision that is applicable, only, to marijuana retail licenses. The provisions for marijuana retail licenses are found at RCW 69.50.325(3) with the provisions for the new forfeiture provision beginning at sub (c). A true and correct copy of RCW 69.50.325(3) is attached hereto in the Appendix as Exhibit "B."

The forfeiture provision is only available for retail licenses (not production or processor licenses) and is not relevant to license issuance. What the provision does is allow LCB to forfeit retail licenses if those licensees have not gotten up and running within a certain time. It also creates an exception that a license cannot be forfeited if that licensee's failure to become operational was caused by local zoning. The plain language of the statute is that the forfeiture provision is inapplicable if the "licensee's" inability to become operational was due to "the adoption" of some regulation locally. The plain language of the statute is that the subject already was a "licensee" when the local government caused "the adoption" of the regulation that prevented the licensee from getting into operation. Said another way, this statute is relevant only to instances where a local government, subsequent to the LCB issuance of a license (causing the entity to be a "licensee" rather than merely an "applicant"), adopts a regulation that frustrates the purpose of that licensee. This makes sense given that RCW 36.70A.103 and WAC 365-196-530 require state agencies to act in accord with local zoning when engaging in permit issuance. Hence, a license that is at variance with existing local development regulations should not have been issued in the first place under existing law. This new provision protects licensees from license forfeiture if local government subsequently regulated in a manner that

frustrates the licensee's business plan. This in no way indicates that the LCB is to ignore local zoning when engaged in license issuance. Yet the Court of Appeals decision misread this statute to give support to its holding that the LCB was not required to issue licenses in conformity with local development regulations as required by the GMA in RCW 36.70A.103. Decision at 8-9.

This Case Involves an Issue of Substantial Public Interest that Should be Determined by the Supreme Court.

The statewide interest in this case is exemplified by the number and breadth of municipalities that commented on the matter when it was still in its administrative stage before the LCB, as acknowledged by the Court of Appeals. Decision at 3. The statewide interest is also exemplified by the submission of an amicus brief by the Washington Association of Municipal Attorneys.

In the GMA there is the recognition that "state and local government have invested considerable resources in an act that should serve as the <u>integrating framework</u> for other land use related laws..."

WAC 365-196-010(1)(j). One part of that integrating framework is the requirement that "applications for both state and local government permits should be processed in a timely and fair manner to ensure predictability."

RCW 36.70A.020(7). Another part of that integrating framework

designed to ensure predictability is the coordination for "common goals" to benefit "the health, safety, and high quality of life" for the people of this state. RCW 36.70A.010. A part of this integrating framework of predictability and common goals is RCW 36.70A.103, which says "State agencies shall comply with the local comprehensive plans and development regulations and amendments thereto adopted pursuant to this chapter " A part of this integrating framework of predictability and common goals is WAC 365-196-530, which provides that the state shall meet local siting and building requirements when it is a project applicant; that the state will not administer its programs in a manner that interferes with local government responsibilities; that state programs are required to take into account local GMA regulations - specifically calling out state permit issuance functions; and that state programs are to be reviewed and altered as local regulations evolve to achieve "consistency." The decision of the Court of Appeals is inconsistent with and frustrates all of these purposes.

The LCB was established under Ch. 66.08 RCW, where it states that "all provisions [of that title] shall be liberally construed for the accomplishment of . . . the protection of the welfare, health, peace, morals, and safety of the people of the state." RCW 66.08.010. The authority of the LCB is to be liberally construed to enable it to have "full power to do

each and every act necessary to the conduct of its regulatory functions." RCW 66.08.050(8). This integrating framework to promote predictability and common goals includes RCW 69.50.331, which provides that the LCB is to undertake a "comprehensive" review of an application and that the LCB has discretion to deny a license based on, "without limitation," county objections. Those objections are not limited in scope and they are to be liberally construed to give the LCB "full power" to do everything necessary to its regulatory function. This integrating framework includes WAC 314-55-165, which specifically provides for county objections that show a detrimental impact to the "safety, health, or welfare of the community." The Court of Appeals decision renders this objection process superfluous. This integrating framework includes WAC 314-55-050(17), which specifically states that a basis for denial is an LCB determination that "the issuance of the license will not be in the best interest of the welfare, health, or safety of the people of the state." Again, these provisions specifically related to the LCB are to be liberally construed to give it full power to accomplish its regulatory functions. This integrating framework includes case law stating that "the purpose of traditional zoning is to protect the public health, safety, and welfare." Save Our Rural Environement v. Snohomish County, 99 Wn.2d 363, 369, 662 P.2d 816 (1983). The Court of Appeals failed to honor these purposes.

Conclusion

This case meets the requirements for acceptance of review under RAP 13.4(b). The decision of the Court of Appeals must be overturned.

The order of the Superior Court should be affirmed.

SUBMITTED this 10th day of

_, 2019.

Neil A. Caulkins, WSBA #31759 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

15



FILED APRIL 11, 2019

In the Office of the Clerk of Court WA State Court of Appeals, Division III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

) No. 35874-7-III	
)))	
)	
) PUBLISHED OPINI	ON
)	
)	
)	
)	
) No. 35874-7-III)))))))) PUBLISHED OPINIO)))))))

PENNELL, A.C.J. — This case asks whether Washington's Growth Management Act (GMA), chapter 36.70A RCW, requires the Washington State Liquor and Cannabis Board (the Board) to defer to local zoning laws when making licensing decisions. Our answer is no. Neither the GMA nor the State's marijuana licensing laws require the

Board to issue licenses in conformity with local zoning laws. While the Board may consider zoning restrictions in making licensing decisions, doing so is not required under current law.

BACKGROUND

Washington voters legalized the sale and use of recreational marijuana in 2012. INITIATIVE 502, LAWS OF 2013, ch. 3. The new law created a legal marketplace for marijuana and delegated licensing, regulatory, and oversight powers to the Board. RCW 69.50.325, .331. Under the law, marijuana producers, processors, and retailers must operate under Board-approved licenses. RCW 69.50.325. Board licenses are site-specific, meaning they are valid only if used at the location approved by the Board in a license application. *Id*.

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