FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/10/2019 1:20 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97191-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN THE MATTER OF THE PETITION OF: KITTITAS COUNTY FOR A DECLARATORY ORDER.

KITTITAS COUNTY,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR AND CANNABIS BOARD,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO KITTITAS COUNTY'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

BRUCE L. TURCOTT, WSBA 15435

Senior Counsel

LEAH HARRIS, WSBA 40815

Assistant Attorney General

Licensing and Administrative Law Division
1125 Washington St. SE, PO Box 40110

Olympia, WA 98504-0110

OID No. 91029

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

IV. REASONS WHY THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

This case involves a straightforward interpretation of RCW 36.70A.103. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the statute does not require state agencies to comply with local zoning requirements when issuing business licenses to private applicants. Because that holding does not conflict with any of this Court's decisions or involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court, the Court should deny review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

- A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded That Neither the GMA Nor the Marijuana Laws Require the Board To Comply with Local Zoning Regulations When Issuing Business Licenses
 - 1. Nothing in the GMA requires the Board to comply with local zoning when issuing business licenses

The Court of Appeals relied on the plain meaning, and the only

logical reading, of the GMA in its ruling. The GMA was enacted in 1990 in response to the problems associated with an increase in population, particularly in the Puget Sound area. Laws of 1990, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 17. It requires counties and cities to establish comprehensive land use plans and develop regulations consistent with the GMA. RCW 36.70A.040.

At issue here, RCW 36.70A.103 requires state agencies to comply with the local comprehensive plans and development regulations that cities and counties adopt pursuant to the GMA. But the text of the statute makes clear that state agency compliance is required only when the state is siting public facilities, not when it is licensing business entities at specific locations:

State agencies shall comply with the local comprehensive plans and development regulations and amendments thereto adopted pursuant to this chapter except as otherwise provided in RCW 71.09.250(1) through (3), 71.09.342, and 72.09.333.

The provisions of chapter 12, Laws of 2001 2nd sp. sess. do not affect the state's authority to site any other essential public facility under RCW 36.70A.200 in conformance with local comprehensive plans and development regulations adopted pursuant to chapter 36.70A RCW.

RCW 36.70A.103. The Court of Appeals properly read this statute as requiring governmental agencies to "follow generally applicable zoning rules" "when a governmental agency is involved in siting a public facility." Slip Op. 5. But "nothing in the statue suggests state agencies must be

concerned with local zoning restrictions when engaged in purely governmental functions, such as determining the appropriateness of a state license." *Id.* at 5-6.

Bolstering this interpretation, the statute exempts the siting of specific state facilities from compliance with local development regulations. It references RCW 71.09.250(1)–(3), which authorizes the construction of a secure community transition facility and special commitment center on McNeil Island; RCW 71.09.342, which authorizes siting and construction of transition facilities by the Department of Social and Health Services; and RCW 72.09.333, which authorizes the Department of Corrections to operate a correctional facility on McNeil Island. These are all state owned and operated public facilities, indicating that the state-compliance requirement applies only to the siting of state owned and operated public facilities.

Further, RCW 36.70A.103 provides that the GMA does not affect the state's authority to site "any other essential public facility," which includes facilities such as airports, state education and transportation facilities, and solid waste handling facilities. RCW 36.70A.103 (emphasis added); RCW 36.70A.200(1). In short, RCW 36.70A.103 refers only to the siting of public facilities. It makes no reference to the licensing of private

entities or of any need to comply with the GMA in the issuance of business or professional licenses.

A Department of Commerce rule supports this reading of the statute. Under WAC 365-196-530, the Department has made clear that it interprets RCW 36.70A.103 as requiring state agencies to comply with the GMA when they are proposing to develop state facilities:

The department construes RCW 36.70A.103 to require each state agency to meet local siting and building requirements when it occupies the position of an applicant proposing development, except where specific legislation explicitly dictates otherwise. This means that development of state facilities is subject to local approval procedures and substantive provisions, including zoning, density, setbacks, bulk and height restrictions.

WAC 365-196-530(2) (emphasis added). The rule explicitly recognizes that state agencies must comply with the GMA only when the state agency is a project applicant. WAC 365-196-530(2). Even when a state agency is exercising its discretionary "permit functions," "the GMA merely 'implies' that governmental agencies 'should take into account' growth management programs when engaged in 'discretionary decision making.'" Slip Op. 6 (quoting WAC 365-196-530(4)).

¹ The Department of Commerce is charged with adopting rules that contain guidelines for classification of lands and to establish a program of technical and financial assistance to local governments. RCW 36.70A.050 and 36.70A.190. Under its GMA rules, "The department's purpose is to provide assistance in interpreting the act, *not to add provisions and meanings beyond those intended by the legislature.*" WAC 365-196-020(3) (emphasis added).

The statute's plain language supports the result below, even independent of the Department of Commerce rule. The Court of Appeals' discussion of this rule served merely to confirm the result that was already plain under the language of RCW 36.70A.103 itself. *See Tesoro Ref. & Mktg Co. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 173 Wn.2d 551, 556, 269 P.3d 1013 (2012) ("Where statutory language is plain and unambiguous, courts will not construe the statute but will glean the legislative intent from the words of the statute itself, regardless of contrary interpretation by an administrative agency.").

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that RCW 36.70A.103 does not apply to the Board's licensing decisions.

2. Nothing in the marijuana laws, Chapter 69.50 RCW, requires the Board to comply with local zoning when issuing business licenses

The specific marijuana statutes themselves also do not require the Board to consider or comply with the GMA when evaluating marijuana business license applications.

RCW 69.50.331 establishes detailed criteria that an applicant for a marijuana license must meet, as well as areas the Board may examine, such as the criminal history of individuals associated with the proposed business or evidence of chronic illegal activity as set out in subsections (7) and (10). Compliance with local zoning laws is not among them. The statute also

enumerates specific circumstances requiring the Board to deny a license.² RCW 69.50.331(1)(b), (2)(b), (8). As the Court of Appeals noted, "[n]oncompliance with local zoning standards is not one of them." Slip Op. 8. The Board's rule, WAC 314-55-050, also lists specific reasons the Board may deny licenses or renewals of licenses. Again, local zoning is not listed.

Additionally, RCW 69.50.331(7) requires the Board to notify local governments of marijuana license applications and renewals and allow them an opportunity to provide input. RCW 69.50.331(10) directs the Board to give "substantial weight" to local governments' objections based on "chronic illegal activity" associated with the proposed licensed premises or the applicant's operation of any other licensed premises. Although RCW 69.50.331(10) does not limit the kind of input the local jurisdiction can provide, all that RCW 69.50.331(10) requires is for the Board to *consider* local government input. It does not require the Board to defer to that input. And, while the Board may grant a hearing to a local government on its objection, a

² In contrast, statutes for other state licensing programs explicitly require compliance with local zoning to obtain a license. For example, in order for a vehicle dealer to receive a license, its physical location must comply with local zoning. RCW 46.70.023(7) ("A [dealers] temporary subagency shall meet all local zoning and building codes for the type of merchandising being conducted."); RCW 46.70.023(8) ("A wholesale vehicle dealer . . . shall meet local zoning and land use ordinances."); RCW 46.70.023(9) ("A retail vehicle dealer shall . . . maintain office and display facilities in a commercially zoned location or in a location complying with all applicable building and land use ordinances"). A driver training school also must be in a properly-zoned location before receiving a license. RCW 46.82.360(6) ("The established place of business of a driver training school shall be located in a district that is zoned for business or commercial purposes or zoned for conditional use permits for schools, trade schools, or colleges.").

hearing is held only at the Board's discretion. RCW 69.50.331(7)(c) ("the state liquor and cannabis board may in its discretion hold, a hearing subject to the applicable provisions of Title 34 RCW"). There is no statutory *right* to a hearing on a local jurisdiction's objection. This demonstrates that the Legislature did not intend for the local government's point of view to control. If the Board were *required* apply local zoning regulations, then a local government's objection would control the licensing decision. But the statutory provisions merely require "communication with local governments." Slip Op. 8.

The County effectively concedes that there is nothing in the plain language of chapter 69.50 RCW requiring the Board to defer to local zoning laws when it asks the Court to "liberally construe" the Board's authority to deny a license based on a county's objections. Pet. for Review 13-14. This argument demonstrates that chapter 69.50 RCW does not explicitly require the Board to deny a license based on a county's objections.

A recent legislative enactment supports the Board's and Court of Appeals' interpretation. In 2017, the Legislature amended RCW 69.50.325, which authorizes marijuana business licenses and sets out the processes and criteria for issuance. Laws of 2017, ch. 317. That act amended RCW 69.50.325 to subject a marijuana license to forfeiture for failure to begin operations within 24 months, but the legislature protected from forfeiture a

licensee who is unable to open due to zoning restrictions. RCW 69.50.325(3)(c)(v). As the Court of Appeals observed, "By adopting protections for licensees who cannot begin operations because of zoning restrictions, the legislature recognized that the Board's licensing decisions are not dependent on zoning regulations." Slip Op. 8.³

The Court of Appeals correctly understood that the Board makes licensing decisions "separate and apart from zoning compliance." Slip Op. 9. Further review is unwarranted.

B. The Court Of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with Woods v. Kittitas County or Southwick, Inc. v. Department of Licensing

1. The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with Woods

The County argues that the Court of Appeals' interpretation of RCW 36.70A.103 amounted to a liberal construction of the GMA and thus conflicts with the mandate of *Woods v. Kittitas County*, 162 Wn.2d 597, 174 P.3d 25 (2007), that the GMA is not to be liberally construed. Pet. for Review 5-6. On the contrary, the Court of Appeals interpreted the GMA according to its plain meaning, which "is discerned from all that the Legislature has said in the statute and related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question." *Dep't of Ecology v.*

³ The County argues, for the first time in its Petition, that the statute prohibits forfeiture of a license only where a local jurisdiction adopts a conflicting zoning regulation *after* the license was issued. Pet. for Review 11. The statute does not contain such a limitation.

Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C., 146 Wn.2d 1, 11, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). The Court strictly interpreted the statute's plain meaning.

In *Woods*, this Court considered whether the superior court has subject matter jurisdiction to decide whether a site-specific rezone complies with the GMA. *Woods*, 162 Wn.2d at 608-14. The Court concluded it does not, because "there is no explicit requirement that [a] project permit be consistent with the GMA." *Id.* at 613. The Court acknowledged the potential problem this could create: "If a project permit is consistent with a development regulation" that was not challenged within the required 60 days of publication, "both the permit and the regulation" could potentially be inconsistent with the GMA. *Id.* at 614. Even so, the Court declined to liberally construe the GMA and held that because "the GMA does not provide for it, . . . a site-specific rezone cannot be challenged for compliance with the GMA." *Id.*

The Court of Appeals' decision is entirely consistent with *Woods*. Here too, there is no explicit requirement in the GMA that state-issued business licenses be consistent with the GMA. *See id.* at 613. This *could* result in the Board issuing a marijuana license for a location that does not comply with the local jurisdiction's comprehensive plan or development regulations. However, because the GMA does not provide for it, the Court

of Appeals properly held that the Board is not required to issue licenses in compliance with local zoning restrictions. *See id.* at 614.

2. The Court Of Appeals' decision does not conflict with Southwick, Inc.

Next, the County misreads *Southwick, Inc. v. Department of Licensing,* 191 Wn.2d 689, 426 P.3d 693 (2018). Pet. for Review 9-10. While it is true that an agency cannot adopt a rule that conflicts with a statutory mandate,⁴ that is not what happened in *Southwick,* and that is not what happened here.

In *Southwick*, a cemetery licensee with statutory authority to adopt rules related to its operations argued that one of its internal rules gave it the "authority of law" to move human remains in a manner contrary to statutory requirements. *Southwick, Inc.*, 191 Wn.2d at 697. This Court made the unremarkable holding that the cemetery could not adopt a rule that conferred on it the "authority of law" to act contrary to a statutory mandate. *Id.* at 691, 697-98.

The County relies on *Southwick*'s principle that a rule cannot contravene a statute merely to repeat its argument that the Board's and Court of Appeals' interpretation of RCW 36.70A.103 and WAC 365-196-

⁴ The County states that *Southwick* stands for the proposition "that an agency may not proffer a legal interpretation that conflicts with a statutory mandate nor may it promulgate a rule that amends or changes a legislative enactment." Pet. for Review 9-10.

530 are wrong. Pet. for Review 10-11. But a disagreement about what the GMA requires does not establish a conflict with *Southwick*'s statement that rules may not supersede statutes. The County's reliance on the case is inapt.

C. This Case Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Requiring Supreme Court Review

Finally, the County contends that this case presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. Pet. for Review 12-14; RAP 13.4(b)(4). It is wrong.

The County is correct that many cities and counties provided input on the County's petition for a declaratory order. Pet. for Review 12; Slip Op. 3. But just because an issue has garnered interest does not mean that this Court must decide it. Here, the analysis of the controlling statutes—RCW 36.70A.103 and RCW 69.50.331—is uncomplicated, and the Court of Appeals correctly resolved the case in a published opinion. There is sufficient appellate resolution of the County's concerns, and the Court of Appeals' straightforward explanation of the plain meaning of the statutes does not require further analysis.

Local jurisdictions bear the responsibility for interpreting and enforcing their own land use ordinances, regardless of the Board's licensing decisions. While there may be "broad support for imposing zoning restrictions on the Board's licensing authority, this is a matter that must be

taken up by the legislative or rule-making process." Slip Op. 10. But neither the Legislature nor the Board has imposed such restrictions. The County's displeasure with that fact "is not a matter to be resolved by the judiciary." *Id.* The Court should deny review.

V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny the petition for review. The Court of Appeals' analysis is consistent with both state statutes and case law. The County has failed to establish that the correctly decided Court of Appeals' ruling on the plain meaning of the statutes warrants this Court's review.